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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good morning.

          3  Welcome to today's hearing of the Council's

          4  Committee on Transportation.

          5                 My name is John Liu; I have the

          6  privilege of chairing this Committee.  Today's

          7  hearing will serve two purposes.  One, to hear what

          8  is going on with the proposed MTA takeover of the

          9  private bus companies in the City.  And the second

         10  is, to consider a bill that would greatly promote

         11  pre-taxed, mass transit benefits in the City.

         12                 We are going to discuss the first

         13  topic first, which is the proposed takeover by MTA

         14  of the private bus lines. Today's hearing is the

         15  second of a series of three hearings that has been

         16  convened by this Committee to explore the issues

         17  concerning this proposed takeover.

         18                 This past June, at the very end of

         19  June, the Council passed yet another extension of

         20  the deadline for the MTA and the Administration to

         21  take over the private bus companies. That was done,

         22  we had passed that legislation at the request of

         23  Mayor Bloomberg, after it became completely obvious

         24  that the takeover would not be done in time, by the

         25  June 30th, the then June 30th deadline, and we in
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          2  the City Council did not want to see chaos on the

          3  streets with people not knowing how to get their

          4  buses.  So we passed the deadline extension to

          5  December 4th. December 4th is now two months away,

          6  and it is our sincere hope that the MTA and the

          7  Administration do not strike out with a third

          8  strike.  If they miss this December 4th deadline, it

          9  will be the third time that they have blown a

         10  deadline.  We do not want to see that happen.

         11                 And at the same time, through this

         12  series of three hearings we seek to understand what

         13  is happening with this plan for the takeover, and

         14  also to understand why it is that the takeover is

         15  being contemplated to begin with.  Originally, the

         16  City was suppose to save $150 million a year in

         17  annual subsidies, and proceeded with the proposition

         18  in the hopes of increasing or improving bus service.

         19    When the Mayor and the Governor announced this

         20  plan this past April, we were told that we were not

         21  going to save any of the annual subsidy.  And then

         22  as recent as last week, the MTA announced they would

         23  go forward with creating a new bus subsidiary, which

         24  from the looks of it on the surface has tremendous

         25  potential to remove the MTA further from public
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          2  scrutiny and accountability, and allow them to

          3  reduce bus service, rather than to improve bus

          4  service.

          5                 So I hope that some of these big

          6  questions will be answered at today's hearing, and

          7  we will continue the discussion at the next

          8  scheduled hearing on this very same matter,

          9  scheduled for November 4th.

         10                 I now am pleased that we are joined

         11  today by the MTA.  I would like to ask Linda

         12  Kleinbaum to join us at the witness table.  And she

         13  will be testifying on behalf of the Metropolitan

         14  Transportation Authority on the matter of this

         15  proposed takeover of the City's private bus lines.

         16                 Sure, I am sorry.  I also wanted to

         17  acknowledge the Committee members who are here with

         18  us this morning.  From my left, we have Council

         19  Member Joe Addabbo from Queens, Council Member Sara

         20  Gonzalez from Brooklyn, and Council Member Helen

         21  Sears from Queens.  And to my right, we have Council

         22  Member Andy Lanza from Staten Island.

         23                 Good morning, Ms. Kleinbaum.

         24                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Good morning,

         25  Chairman Liu, and members of the Council's
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          2  Transportation Committee.  My name is Linda

          3  Kleinbaum, and I am the Deputy Executive Director

          4  for Administration at the Metropolitan

          5  Transportation Authority.  I am here to update you

          6  on our preparations for the transfer of

          7  responsibility for bus service from the seven New

          8  York City franchise operators to the MTA.  While the

          9  City is continuing its negotiations with the private

         10  operators, the MTA has been taking internal steps in

         11  order to assume those services.  On September 29th,

         12  the MTA Board approved the creation of a new

         13  subsidiary, the "MTA Bus Company", to house the

         14  operations of the private bus companies.  This

         15  company will be responsible for all aspects of

         16  service delivery, and the City will pay the

         17  difference between the actual cost of operations and

         18  all revenues.  In addition, the City will lease all

         19  of its bus- related assets to MTA Bus.

         20  The City and the MTA had preferred passage of State

         21  Legislation that would have facilitated the

         22  consolidation of existing MTA bus operations,

         23  including New York City Transit, MaBSTOA, and Long

         24  Island Bus, as well as the private bus lines into

         25  one regional bus company.  However, our efforts to
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          2  obtain that legislation prior to the originally

          3  stated July 1st transfer date were unsuccessful.

          4                 In the absence of that legislation,

          5  the new MTA Bus Company creates a place for the new

          6  services to be incorporated into the MTA as soon as

          7  the City completes its negotiations with the private

          8  companies.  This Company will focus solely on the

          9  needs of bus customers, and also paves the way for

         10  creation of a regional bus company in the longer

         11  term.  A regional bus company remains the best way

         12  to deliver more efficient, flexible, cost- effective

         13  service, enabling the MTA to plan service

         14  regionally, taking customers where they want to go,

         15  regardless of jurisdiction.  We are hopeful that

         16  this vision will be achieved in the future.

         17                 In the meantime, the primary goal of

         18  the MTA Bus Company will be to improve the service

         19  for customers who currently use private buses in the

         20  Bronx, Queens, and Brooklyn. To carry out this

         21  mission, MTA Bus will draw on expertise of the MTA's

         22  other operating agencies to develop best practices.

         23                 As a first step in improving service,

         24  the MTA Board resolution also authorized the MTA to

         25  prepare and submit an amendment to the 2000- 2004
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          2  capital plan to the Capital Program Review Board, to

          3  redirect monies previously slated for a subway

          4  extension to LaGuardia airport to the MTA Bus

          5  Company.  Following CPRB approval, MTA Bus will be

          6  able to purchase new buses to replace the aging bus

          7  fleet currently serving those lines and make needed

          8  capital improvements.

          9                 In addition, the MTA and the City

         10  have been meeting with the FTA and appropriate

         11  members of Congress to arrange for the transfer of

         12  approximately $150 million in Federal funds, from

         13  the City to the MTA.  This will allow MTA to

         14  allocate additional funds for bus purchases.  We are

         15  hopeful that this transfer can happen quickly, and

         16  the current, private, bus riders will get to utilize

         17  these new buses as soon as possible.

         18                 There is still work to be done prior

         19  to the transfer of operations to the MTA, but the

         20  creation of the MTA Bus Company and the $322.5

         21  million capital plan amendment are critical first

         22  steps.  We continue to work with the City to move

         23  this transition forward, so that the bus riders who

         24  count on these services can begin to see the

         25  benefits of improved service, as soon as possible.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Ms.

          4  Kleinbaum, for your testimony.  Why does the MTA

          5  need to create this bus company, again?

          6                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  The MTA is creating

          7  the bus company because the Board continues to see

          8  its vision, as a vision of creating a regional place

          9  for buses to operate out of, and this is a first

         10  step in the creation of that regional entity.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  That regional

         12  entity can be created at some time in the future,

         13  the MTA simply needs to get the Legislature on

         14  board.  But the takeover of these private bus lines

         15  does not actually depend on the creation of this bus

         16  company.  Does it?

         17                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Well there needs to

         18  be a place where these private bus lines can be

         19  incorporated.  They cannot be incorporated into New

         20  York City Transit without the legislation.  So it

         21  was the Board's considered decision to place them

         22  into an entity called MTA Bus, which would allow us

         23  to focus on the needs of these bus riders, and to

         24  continue to attempt to achieve the vision of

         25  regional bus service.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Are you saying that

          3  currently, New York City Transit is barred from

          4  running these lines that are operated currently by

          5  the private companies?

          6                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  What I am saying is

          7  in order for these bus lines to have been

          8  incorporated into the New York City Transit, we

          9  would have required the legislation that we

         10  attempted to move forward.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Are you sure about

         12  that?  You said that in order for New York City

         13  Transit to assume operation of these lines, that

         14  would have required the legislation that did not

         15  pass in June.

         16                 MS. GOLDSTEIN:  No, it would require

         17  legislation in order for it to go into New York City

         18  Transit.  Our legislation at the State was to create

         19  MTA Bus Company which would have been a first

         20  regional, but because of civil service, you cannot

         21  bring the private companies into New York City

         22  Transit without some sort of legislation.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I forgot my manners

         24  for a second.  First, let me thank the Metropolitan

         25  Transportation Authority for finally attending one

                                                            11

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  of our hearings scheduled to explore the issue of

          3  the takeover of the private bus lines.  We have had

          4  many, many hearings on this issue, and this is the

          5  first time that the Metropolitan Transportation

          6  Authority has sent representatives.  I want to

          7  personally thank you, Ms. Kleinbaum, and your team

          8  here for appearing at our hearing.

          9                 This is an issue that has, in my

         10  opinion, gone way, way out of control.  So there is

         11  quite a bit of irritation on our part, that number

         12  one, it has taken so long, but taken so long to not

         13  only complete the plan, but to even get information

         14  about the plan.  More importantly, while all these

         15  delays have continued to occur, the service for our

         16  constituents, for the riders, continues to go deeper

         17  and deeper down the tubes.  So that is why this is

         18  such an important issue for this Committee at this

         19  time.

         20                 I will try to mind my manners for the

         21  rest of the hearing.  But I am also looking for

         22  direct and simple answers to simple questions.  If

         23  the questions or issues are not as simple as I see

         24  them, feel free to explain why they are not so

         25  simple. But the biggest question that I continue to
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          2  have, is why is that New York City Transit could not

          3  simply take over these lines?

          4                 The Q- 66 right now is run by a

          5  private company in Queens.  What is to stop New York

          6  City Transit from simply assuming the operations of

          7  the Q- 66?  Assuming the same schedule and assuming

          8  the same physical route of operation.

          9                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  As Michelle just

         10  stated, the issues about bringing it into New York

         11  City Transit involve legislation because of the

         12  civil service status.  The other thing is it was a

         13  Board decision to put these private operators into

         14  MTA Bus, which will apply the same service standards

         15  that are used by New York City Transit, will

         16  purchase the same high quality equipment that is

         17  used by New York City Transit, and in fact, may draw

         18  on some of the areas of expertise that exist in New

         19  York City Transit to effectuate, I believe, what we

         20  are all looking for which is improved service for

         21  these riders.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Does the Transit

         23  Authority need legislation in order to add a brand

         24  new bus route in perhaps a neighborhood that is

         25  growing rapidly, and therefore needs bus service?
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          2                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  No, no they do not.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Then, I just, I

          4  guess I am really dense, but I still do not get why

          5  it is that a separate bus subsidiary needs to be

          6  created before New York City Transit can takeover

          7  the currently existing bus lines.  You are in part

          8  answering my question because by saying that, it is

          9  because the MTA Board made that decision.  Well that

         10  is actually the essence of my question.  Why is it

         11  that the MTA Board decided to create this separate

         12  bus subsidiary?

         13                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  I believe I have

         14  tried to answer your question.  The MTA Board had

         15  several reasons:

         16                 One of which, I said, was to continue

         17  the vision of a regional authority.

         18                 The second, was that we believe that

         19  the high standards that are used by New York City

         20  Transit would continue to apply.

         21                 The third is, employees of the bus

         22  company become employees of MTA, and the MTA defined

         23  benefits plans apply.  And we have the ability to

         24  have input into that.

         25                 So for all of those many reasons,
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          2  which we have talked with the Council about in the

          3  past, the decision was made to set up the company in

          4  this way.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I think there may

          6  have been some informal conversations at the staff

          7  level.  But this is information we have formally

          8  requested, and that is the information that we are

          9  trying to get at today's hearing.

         10                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Excuse me, I had

         11  testified before this Committee in May and laid out

         12  many of the reasons why we were seeking the

         13  legislation, and the creation at that time

         14  legislatively of an MTA Bus Company.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  That would have

         16  been during our executive budget hearings?  Is that

         17  correct?

         18                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  That is correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  So that was

         20  a peripheral issue in our budget hearings, and we

         21  were still focused on the $150 million of annual

         22  subsidy, which by then, since May is after the April

         23  announcement, the Mayor was saying, we would fork

         24  over to the MTA rather than the private bus

         25  companies.
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          2                 My question was not what are the

          3  reasons for the MTA creating this bus authority.  My

          4  most basic question to you is, is the creation of

          5  this separate bus subsidiary necessary in order for

          6  the MTA to assume the operations of these bus lines

          7  currently operated by the private companies?  Is it

          8  necessary? Not why, not all the bells and whistles

          9  reasons for this and for being part of the long-

         10  term goals, the question simply is, is it necessary?

         11                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  MTA is non- civil

         12  service employer, MTA Bus is a non- civil service

         13  employer, and that is one of the reasons why the MTA

         14  Bus Company is necessary.  Because otherwise, you

         15  would require some form of legislation.

         16                 MS. GOLDSTEIN:  Let me just add to

         17  that to maybe help.  Because New York City Transit

         18  in these titles hires only from civil service lists

         19  and the employees of the seven private companies are

         20  currently non- civil service, you would need some

         21  type of legislation that would either grandfather

         22  them in, I am not exactly sure how it would work, or

         23  you create a separate company that does not have

         24  civil service, so do not have to go from a list in

         25  the same way that you would at New York City
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          2  Transit.  So when you were asking about the Q- 66 or

          3  what happens in a highly populated area when we need

          4  to add a bus line, it is different than when you are

          5  taking employees from a private company and you have

          6  to skip people that are on a current civil service,

          7  which I am of the understanding would require State

          8  Legislative to change.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  That does make it

         10  clearer.  Is there anyway?  I guess you are saying

         11  the only way for the MTA to take on the, say the

         12  driver of the Q- 66, would be through this

         13  legislation, either the State Legislation or the

         14  creation of this separate bus company?  Is that the

         15  only way?

         16                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Those are the ways

         17  that we have considered, that we have identified.

         18  This way, by creating the MTA Bus Company, as the

         19  Board has done, would allow us to do that as soon as

         20  the City is successful with its negotiations.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Then why not make

         22  it clear that the MTA has its hands tied legally.

         23  And that is why the bus company is required, in the

         24  absence of State Legislation.  Why talk about the

         25  long- term vision for the separate, bus regional
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          2  authority, the first step of which towards realizing

          3  that vision of a regional bus authority would be the

          4  creation of this separate bus subsidiary?

          5                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  I believe we tried to

          6  give all of the reasons why we were creating it, and

          7  the other reasons still hold true.  It is not a

          8  single reason.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  There

         10  are some questions from my colleagues.  One last

         11  question and I will come back later.  I just want to

         12  make it clear from your testimony, the MTA is

         13  pursuing the roughly $150 million of Federal funds

         14  that the City has been sitting on.  And it is the

         15  MTA's intent to have that money transferred over

         16  from the City to the MTA, and then the MTA will use

         17  that money to purchase new buses?

         18                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  By having that money

         19  transferred to us, we will be able to allocate

         20  approximately 150 million to new buses.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, the estimates

         22  that we have heard are $156 million, or $160

         23  million, so it is around that range.

         24                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Correct.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And that would be
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          2  in addition, completely in addition to the $322.5

          3  million that you are no longer going to use on the N

          4  Train extension, and instead going to use, for

          5  again, the purchase of additional buses, as well as

          6  possibly acquiring some facilities?

          7                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  That is correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  We have

          9  questions from Council Member Sears.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you, Mr.

         11  Chair, and thank you for being here today.  I just

         12  wish to follow- up on one thing the Chairman said,

         13  and then ask an additional question. The monies that

         14  were coming from the LaGuardia Airport Access

         15  Program, this was mentioned many months ago.  Can

         16  you tell me what the stumbling blocks are that this

         17  arrangement has still not happened?

         18                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Well the first thing

         19  that had to happen was to get our Board to approve

         20  the action, and that was anticipated to happen after

         21  we had hoped the legislation would pass.  When that

         22  did not, we determined to do the process this way.

         23  And as I said, in September, we took this issue to

         24  the Board and the Board approved us, sending an

         25  amendment to the Capital Program Review Board.  CPRB
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          2  is an oversight body that is comprised of

          3  representatives who look at and approve changes to

          4  the Capital Program, as well as originally adopting

          5  the Capital Program.  So we are sending to them a

          6  request to move $322.5 million from the LaGuardia

          7  Project to MTA Bus.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Well that is a

          9  little confusing to me because, was the transfer of

         10  these monies, I would understand to be contingent

         11  upon the passage of legislation.  That in itself, I

         12  think, created an erroneous environment.

         13                 Secondly, if it was contingent upon

         14  that, and that did not happen, because we do not

         15  have the legislation, we now have to start the

         16  process for doing that, which is a lengthy process.

         17                 I do not see your Board pursuing that

         18  with a great deal of expediency.  Because that,

         19  Airport Access dollars was brought up by the MTA,

         20  and it was part of when these negotiations started

         21  of the MTA taking that over that those monies that

         22  were not applied because that program had been

         23  dropped, was going to be shifted over to the MTA

         24  taking that over.  We are right back where we

         25  started from.  So I think that it seems that in the
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          2  testimony that those monies were contingent upon

          3  legislation, which means you are shifting gears and

          4  you are doing something else, because that is not

          5  the way it was presented to us.

          6  So if you could clarify that?

          7                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  I would be happy to

          8  try and clarify that.  The monies are being, the

          9  request to CPRB is to transfer the funds to an

         10  entity called MTA Bus.  It required there to be an

         11  entity called MTA Bus in order to transfer the

         12  funds.  Now that there is an entity that has been

         13  approved by our Board, the request goes to CPRB.

         14  They have 30 days, so it could be as quickly as 30

         15  days to have an answer.  Our Board, the MTA Board,

         16  has already authorized us sending out that request

         17  for an amendment.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Do you see any

         19  legislation pending?  Another words, then there is

         20  no legislation that is going to come forth at all

         21  from Albany on this, which means you have to create

         22  this bus company.

         23                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  We have created the

         24  bus company. The MTA Board created the subsidiary to

         25  MTA, as MTA Bus at its September 29th Board meeting.
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          2

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Can you cast a

          4  little light on why Albany has been hesitant to do

          5  that?  Because we are talking about servicing a lot

          6  of people in the City of New York.

          7                 MS. GOLDSTEIN:  To pass the

          8  legislation, or to approve the amendment on the

          9  LaGuardia money?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  To get the

         11  legislation required so that you would have been

         12  able to move on this a lot faster.

         13                 MS. GOLDSTEIN:  Last year, after the

         14  April announcement there were a series of very

         15  serious negotiations with the Senate Assembly and

         16  Governor's Office.  The MTA, the Senate, and the

         17  Governor's Office came up with an agreement.  The

         18  Assembly decided that they wanted to go another way,

         19  we never passed the same bill, and they did not pass

         20  the same bill as the Senate did.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  What was the

         22  other way that the Assembly wanted?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I am sorry, please

         24  just identify yourself for the record.

         25                 MS. GOLDSTEIN:  Michelle Goldstein,

                                                            22

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  Director of Government Affairs at the MTA.  They had

          3  some different provisions in their bills back in

          4  June that were just slightly different than the

          5  Senate's version of the bill in various ways. I mean

          6  I can get you that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Can I ask the

          8  Chair, were you aware of the fact that the Assembly

          9  had some other alternatives for the passage of this

         10  legislation?  Because it seems there is a snag.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Yes, okay.

         13  Because it seems like there was a snag in the

         14  legislation, and the Assembly had somewhat of a

         15  different view as to what they wanted to do with it.

         16    Okay, all right.

         17                 And just if I may, one other thing.

         18  You state in your testimony that you are going to

         19  draw on the expertise of other operating agencies to

         20  develop the best practices for the services.  What

         21  other agencies did you have in mind?

         22                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Well the MTA family

         23  includes, besides New York City Transit, Metro-

         24  North Railroad, Long Island Railroad, and we will

         25  look as we establish this company across the family
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          2  of agencies, Long Island Bus we also run, to

          3  determine where best to draw expertise and best

          4  practice.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  And just one

          6  more thing. Can you explain what you mean about a

          7  regional bus company remains the best way to deliver

          8  more efficient, flexible service? Exactly what does

          9  the region mean?

         10                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Well the region means

         11  the ability to serve riders throughout New York

         12  irregardless or throughout the greater New York City

         13  area, regardless of jurisdictional boundaries.  So

         14  that if you have one company, for instance, you

         15  could service between Queens and Long Island.  You

         16  would not have to stop and drop a customer off

         17  because you have a county boundary.  And that is

         18  ideally the way you would serve customers who have

         19  trips that they have to make.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Maybe that is,

         21  but I would just like to make a note to the

         22  Chairman, that I think that we need to look at that

         23  very carefully.  Because we are talking about bus

         24  service in other boroughs, Queens, and the Bronx,

         25  and Brooklyn, and those bus services have been doing
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          2  the job of servicing the people of these boroughs

          3  without thinking of having to drop somebody off in

          4  Long Island.  I can tell you for one member of this

          5  Committee, I would have a big problem with that

          6  because there is nothing that the MTA could say to

          7  me that would mean the delivery of services to these

          8  people in these boroughs would continue on the same

          9  venue.  I do not believe that because you have

         10  stretch that cord thinner, and thinner, and thinner.

         11    I would really stress to our Chairman that we have

         12  to look at that very carefully, because it has to

         13  cut into the services and the routes of the other

         14  boroughs.  And that was not what this was about.  It

         15  was about to deliver a little more efficient service

         16  to these boroughs, and how it was going to be done.

         17                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Well again, our

         18  objective through the MTA Bus Company will be,

         19  absolutely, to improve service to the riders of

         20  these bus operations.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Believe me I

         22  do not doubt the integrity of the MTA and your

         23  mission, I am saying I do not believe that the MTA

         24  could service Long Island, Brooklyn, Queens, and

         25  stretching these regions that has not been done
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          2  before.  That is what I am saying, and please note

          3  that, because I have very deep reservations about

          4  that.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Your welcome.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

          8  Member Sears, and I believe that your statements

          9  about this proposed regional bus authority are not

         10  merely your own, but reflect many of our Committee

         11  members as well.  Questions from Council Member

         12  Addabbo.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you

         14  Mr. Chair and I would also like to thank the MTA for

         15  being here today, for their time and testimony.

         16                 Ms. Kleinbaum, a question, how

         17  involved are you, personally, with the negotiations?

         18    Are you privy to the details of the negotiations,

         19  or not?

         20                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  I am not involved

         21  with the negotiations.  As you know, the City was

         22  here last month, and the City through Mark Page is

         23  negotiating currently with the private operators.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I had

         25  actually asked Mark Page at that hearing, how
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          2  optimistic he was, on a scale of one to ten, ten

          3  being very optimistic, one being not very optimistic

          4  about hitting that December deadline.  I will ask

          5  you the same question.  On a scale of one to ten,

          6  ten being optimistic, one being not so optimistic,

          7  how optimistic are you that we are going to hit this

          8  December deadline?

          9                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Again, you ask the

         10  question of the right person when you asked Mark.

         11  The negotiations are happening that way.  We have

         12  full expectations that MTA Bus will be operating

         13  some service.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I did not

         15  think he was very optimistic, that was my, that was

         16  unfortunate.  The MTA Bus Company, the new

         17  subsidiary, making sure that the MTA is going

         18  through all its details, crossing every "t", dotting

         19  every "i", and obviously, a lot of thought process

         20  went into the MTA Bus Company subsidiary.  Who is

         21  going to run it?  Who is going run the MTA Bus

         22  Company, the new subsidiary?

         23                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Actually, MTA

         24  recently appointed a head for the new subsidiary, it

         25  is Tom Savage, who has 30 years of experience in
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          2  Transit.  And it will be run as an MTA agency.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  He worked

          4  for the MTA, is that correct?

          5                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Correct, he has 30

          6  years of experience with Transit.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  You had

          8  mentioned in your testimony alluding to something

          9  that my colleague, Helen Sears, had brought up,

         10  taking customers where they wanted to go regardless

         11  of jurisdiction.  A major issue in my district,

         12  Southern Queens, the express bus, taking someone

         13  from a bus stop directly into Manhattan.  Critical

         14  in my part of Southern Queens where, again,

         15  transportation could need much improvement.  What

         16  has been the MTA's position, if you know, when this

         17  takeover occurs, regarding the future fate of the

         18  express bus?

         19                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  MTA itself runs

         20  express bus.  And our intent, again, is to improve

         21  services that are offered, whether they be express

         22  services or local services.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Could you

         24  see that, either side of the coin, could you see

         25  that after the merger express buses could be
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          2  diminished with the merger, or you see them possibly

          3  being increased?

          4                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  You know it is

          5  impossible at this point to say.  What I can tell

          6  you, again, and I am not trying to be cute here, we

          7  want to improve service.  That is what

          8  transportation companies do, and it is our goal to

          9  do that.  And we will apply the standards that we

         10  apply to all of our services now to these services,

         11  and come up with what we think will be the best

         12  services for these riders.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Also in your

         14  testimony, and you alluded to it earlier, the

         15  Capital Program Review Board needs to approve the

         16  Capital money shift.  Is there any risk of the Board

         17  disapproving that proposal?

         18                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  You know, I cannot

         19  answer what the Board will do.  We will send it up,

         20  and we will offer to sit and talk to the Board

         21  members if they have questions.  And I would hope

         22  and expect that it will be approved.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Do we have

         24  any past history, or track record, with the Board?

         25  Have they disapproved proposals in the past?
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          2                 MS. GOLDSTEIN:  Yes, a lot of times.

          3  They often disapprove proposals, or approve

          4  proposals.  This one though they have known about

          5  for a long time, and we have gone through a lot of

          6  briefings with them on this issue, and they have

          7  been part of negotiations.  So we are hopeful that

          8  they will understand the importance on the first

          9  try, and we will get the approval in the 30 days.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Okay, so if

         11  we can bypass the optimistic view that it is going

         12  to be approved, let's go to plan B.  What is plan B

         13  if the Board disapproves it?

         14                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Well as we have

         15  stated to you, we know your desire.  And it is our

         16  desire to improve conditions as soon as possible.

         17  And I think when you ask that, you are partly

         18  asking, how do we start to get new equipment, things

         19  like that. So we want to do that.  We recognize the

         20  equipment that is serving these riders is often old

         21  and in need of upgrade or replacement.  So we are

         22  trying this through three prongs.

         23                 One is, as we said, as you just

         24  pointed to, the CPRB amendment.

         25                 The other is, the transfer of monies
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          2  from the City, the Federal monies from the City to

          3  the MTA.

          4                 And a third possibility is, where we

          5  would do a leaseback, where we could actually get

          6  some transit buses that could be applied to this new

          7  service in a shorter time frame.

          8                 So it is as much our goal as yours to

          9  see new and better equipment, as soon as we can

         10  possibly make that happen.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  And when

         12  would the time line be for the Board to, do you have

         13  any idea?

         14                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  I really cannot give

         15  you that, hopefully next time we will be further

         16  along and be able to tell you more of a time line.

         17  But again, we will strive to make this happen, it is

         18  as much our goal as yours, as soon as possible.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  And lastly,

         20  since I chair the Civil Service and Labor Committee

         21  I am very interested about the fate of both our

         22  union and non- union workers.  Do you have any

         23  update on, obviously, their issues that have been

         24  brought to light?  And the fate of, obviously, some

         25  of the workers who currently are employed?
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          2                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Well when these bus

          3  companies come over to us, we will commence

          4  collective bargaining negotiations with the

          5  companies that will address the union issues.  As we

          6  have said in the past, as to non- represented

          7  employees, we need to get into the bus companies and

          8  look at their business processes, and things like

          9  that, but we have full expectation that non-

         10  represented people will be needed to help run this

         11  company, as well.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  And last

         13  question.  Do you believe that the negotiations at

         14  this point, and I know again maybe looking from the

         15  outside to an extent, do you believe these

         16  negotiations have been as inclusive as they could be

         17  with regards to all parties involved, including the

         18  workers?

         19                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  The negotiations that

         20  are happening now are happening between the City and

         21  the Properties. We have had informal discussions

         22  with Labor.  It is my understanding that we asked

         23  some of the owners, if we could have formal

         24  discussion, and were denied.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  You were
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          2  denied discussions with?

          3                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I am sorry,

          5  so I am clear, you have been denied discussions

          6  with?

          7                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Formal discussions

          8  with the workers at some of the companies.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you,

         10  Mr. Chair. Thank you very much.

         11                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Your welcome.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

         13  Member Addabbo.  We have also been joined by Council

         14  Member James Sanders from Queens, and Council Member

         15  Miguel Martinez from Manhattan.

         16                 I do want to note that there is a

         17  concurrent hearing going on next door, and so some

         18  of the members do have to go back and forth between

         19  the Committees.

         20                 I do have a few follow- up questions

         21  for you.  What is the current, Ms. Kleinbaum, have

         22  you been involved with the logistics and the details

         23  behind creating this new bus company?

         24                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  I have helped support

         25  some of the effort.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Are you intimately

          3  familiar with the details of this new bus company?

          4                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  I am not sure what

          5  details you speak of.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Do you feel that

          7  you are knowledgeable enough to talk about this new

          8  bus company?

          9                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  The company is just

         10  now being created.  As I said, it was authorized by

         11  the Board on September 29th.  The new head of the

         12  company will be creating the details that will

         13  effect how this will operate and what it will be.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Are you familiar

         15  with what the Board voted on last week?

         16                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And are you

         18  familiar with New York City Transit's bus operations

         19  in terms of general procedures that are followed?

         20                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  What is the

         22  procedure that the Transit Authority undertakes when

         23  there is a proposed change in a bus route?

         24                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Well at a minimum

         25  they have a very, as you know, it is a very public
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          2  process, at a minimum it includes going before

          3  community boards and local elected officials.  And

          4  when it is over a certain amount, it actually

          5  requires hearings.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Would the same

          7  procedures be followed, if there were a proposed

          8  reduction in the frequency of bus service?

          9                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  We will follow the

         10  same procedures for the MTA Bus, as are followed by

         11  New York City Transit.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  You mentioned

         13  before, when New York City Transit proposes a change

         14  in the bus route there is a set of public hearings,

         15  and meetings, and information sessions. Is there a

         16  corresponding set of, are there similar procedures

         17  in place for proposed reductions in the frequency of

         18  bus service? Or does the bus service simply get

         19  reduced?

         20                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  I am not sure I can

         21  answer that. Let me get back to you on that

         22  question.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  So in the

         24  creation, and I think you jumped ahead and

         25  anticipated my question, which is fine, in this new
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          2  bus company that you are envisioning creating, if

          3  there was a change in the route, that there would

          4  also be a public review process involved, the same

          5  review process that New York City Transit undertakes

          6  currently?

          7                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  That is correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And when the bus

          9  company begins its operation, presumably December

         10  5th or sooner, if possible, whenever it begins to

         11  start operating, is the bus company suppose to take

         12  over all of the routes that are currently in

         13  operation by the private companies?

         14                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Yes, as I said, when

         15  I spoke with you all in May, what will happen is we

         16  will spend several months doing the kind of traffic

         17  checking and looking at routes that we would

         18  normally do, as we evaluate whether or the not the

         19  proper level of service is being put out on the

         20  roads.  It is what Transit does on its routes, it is

         21  what MTA Bus will do.  And, you know, after that

         22  review process, we will know better what the needs

         23  of these riders are.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And going back to

         25  the civil service issues, you have stated, actually
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          2  Michelle Goldstein, has stated that the reason why

          3  this bus company has to be created is to get around,

          4  well, really to get around the current civil service

          5  laws that are in place.  Is that correct?

          6                 MS. GOLDSTEIN:  I stated that the

          7  reason that the private company employees could not

          8  go into New York City Transit was because you would

          9  need State Legislative change to deal with the civil

         10  service issue.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  But without that,

         12  in the absence of that legislation, then the Transit

         13  Authority could not take on those employees

         14  currently employed by the private bus companies.   MS

         15  . GOLDSTEIN:  That is correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, that really is

         17  the only reason that the bus company is necessary in

         18  order for the MTA to take over the private bus

         19  lines.

         20                 MS. GOLDSTEIN:  But it is not the

         21  only reason that it was created.  The reasons were,

         22  as Linda stated in her testimony.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I understand that.

         24  I just want to get on the record that is the only

         25  reason that it is necessary.  In the absence of
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          2  State Legislation altering some of the civil service

          3  rules, the only reason that the MTA needs to create

          4  this bus company in order to take over those private

          5  lines is simply so that the MTA can take on these

          6  employees currently employed by the private bus

          7  companies.

          8                 MS. GOLDSTEIN:  As a legal matter,

          9  that is correct, yes.  If we are just talking

         10  legally, yes that is correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Would it be

         12  possible for the MTA to transfer New York City

         13  Transit employees in the future to this new bus

         14  company?

         15                 MS. GOLDSTEIN:  It is my

         16  understanding that without State Legislation you

         17  could not transfer current New York City Transit

         18  employees to the bus company.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  We have

         20  questions from Council Member Sanders.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Thank you

         22  Mr. Chair, and yes it is true that there are

         23  meetings taking place at both places, but good

         24  morning to your guests.  I have three questions and

         25  than I am through.  I believe Ms. Kleinbaum, you
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          2  spoke of how you were denied permission to meet with

          3  the workers.  Denied by whom, I did not get?

          4                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  I believe that some

          5  of the owners were asked if MTA could have formal

          6  discussions with the workers, and we were denied.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Did you try

          8  to get these meetings with the union, as another way

          9  of getting to the workers?

         10                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  As I have stated,

         11  there have been informal discussions with various

         12  unions.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  I see.  It

         14  of course may be a good thing, if one is trying to

         15  get to the workers, to and if you are denied one

         16  way, certainly there exists an avenue, and I would

         17  encourage you to avail yourself.  When will the new

         18  leaders of the MTA Bus Company present themselves to

         19  the City Council?

         20                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  I would expect at the

         21  next hearing or so.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Good.  A

         23  last question, of course, I am blessed to be the

         24  Council member of the 31st, which is Southeast

         25  Queens, and my question has to do with bus depots.
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          2  Have we resolved the question of where these bus

          3  depots will be located?  I know that there is some

          4  concern that the former companies may not turn over

          5  the bus depots.  Has it been resolved?  Have we

          6  found new places?

          7                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  That is part of what

          8  the City is currently negotiating, as we have

          9  stated, we need the current assets to be able to run

         10  the service.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  I see, I

         12  just of course want to go on record along with my

         13  friend, Council Member Addabbo, and all of the

         14  members of the panel, on how serious this issue is

         15  to the people of New York, to the people of our

         16  districts.  And we certainly applaud the Chair in

         17  being very adamant and very, very forceful in

         18  finding an answer for the people, because we are

         19  getting new nostrils torn into us, on a daily basis,

         20  by the people of our districts over these issues.

         21                 I encourage you to move with all do

         22  speed to resolve these issues.  Thank you very much.

         23    Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Sorry

         25  to beat this particular issue to death, but we just
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          2  wanted to clarify once again, you mentioned that

          3  you, or some of your colleagues at the MTA, had

          4  tried to initiate discussions with the employees at

          5  the private bus companies, but were denied access to

          6  them.  Who was it that denied access?

          7                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  I cannot answer that,

          8  I can get back to you.  The request was made of some

          9  of the owners, and we were denied.  So I cannot tell

         10  you who precisely, but I can get back to you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, so you are

         12  saying that you asked the owners of the private

         13  companies if you could speak with their employee

         14  groups.  If you asked the owners, and you say that

         15  you were denied, don't you mean that the owners said

         16  no, or was it someone else that said no?

         17                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  That is what that

         18  means.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So then, the owners

         20  of the companies said no.

         21                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, we have also

         23  been joined by Council Member Simcha Felder.

         24                 Well thank you very much for joining

         25  us this morning, and I think as you alluded to, we
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          2  will see you next month, along with the newly

          3  designated leaders of the MTA Bus Company.

          4                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well is that yes or

          6  no? Or are you not sure?

          7                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  I believe that is

          8  correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, thank you

         10  very much.

         11                 MS. KLEINBAUM:  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  We will now hear

         13  from a representative of the Bronx Borough

         14  President, Prisca Salazar and this person will be

         15  followed by a representative of Local 100.

         16                 Ms. Salazar, good morning.

         17                 MS. SALAZAR:  Good morning.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Please proceed.

         19                 MS. SALAZAR:  Good morning Chairman

         20  Liu, and members of the Council Committee on

         21  Transportation.  My name is Prisca Salazar, and I am

         22  here on behalf of Adolfo Carrion, Jr., President of

         23  the Borough of the Bronx.  Thank you for the

         24  opportunity to testify at this oversight hearing

         25  concerning the status of the announced transfer of
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          2  New York City's subsidized private bus lines to the

          3  MTA.

          4                 The Borough President's testimony is

          5  rather lengthy this morning, so I am just going to

          6  read you a summary, but we are submitting the entire

          7  document for the record.

          8                 The plan to transfer management of

          9  the seven private bus lines to the MTA on December

         10  5th is froth with uncertainties.  From whether the

         11  MTA has the financial resources to complete the

         12  transfer, to the question of which routes will

         13  survive the MTA scrutiny, to what will be the fate

         14  of hundreds of dedicated private bus company

         15  employees.

         16                 I believe that if the transfer does

         17  not take place by December 4th, the owners of the

         18  private bus lines should be given a multi- year

         19  extension of their operating authority so that long-

         20  term stability can return to this very important

         21  part of New York City's mass transit system.  Long-

         22  term plans surrounding Labor contracts and the

         23  acquisition of new equipment cannot be completed

         24  unless all parties know what the future holds.

         25                 Significantly the consequences of
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          2  doing nothing could result in a total collapse of

          3  the private bus system, as the old equipment we now

          4  use continues to deteriorate and there are Labor

          5  actions.

          6                 However, should the negotiation

          7  process be concluded, and the transfer of management

          8  implemented as planned, we must be the watchdogs for

          9  our constituents and monitor the services provided

         10  by this entity.  If the City and the MTA settle the

         11  particulars, the MTA can begin integrating the

         12  private bus lines' 82 routes with its own system of

         13  219 routes used by 2.5 million daily passengers.  At

         14  this point, we will prod the MTA to ensure that a

         15  reasonable vehicle replacement plan be developed and

         16  implemented without delay.  MTA must be held

         17  responsible for all the aspects of the services

         18  delivered, and the continued maintenance of the

         19  existing health and welfare plans.  It is imperative

         20  that pension plans and seniority be adhered to.

         21                 Most importantly, as the elected

         22  leaders of our great City, we must do all we can

         23  within our power to ensure the continuity of service

         24  for bus riding New Yorkers.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very much

          3  Ms. Salazar. Next, we will hear from Neil Winberry

          4  from Local 100, Transport Workers' Union.  He will

          5  be followed by representatives of the Amalgamated

          6  Transit Union, Local 1181, as well as Local 1179.

          7                 Please press the button.

          8                 MR. WINBERRY:  Mr. Chairman, members

          9  of the Committee, my name is Neil Winberry.  I am

         10  TWU Local 100 Vice President for the private lines.

         11  I have spent 20 years operating buses at Queens

         12  Surface.

         13                 I would like to share pictures with

         14  the Committee. I had some pictures of a situation.

         15  Let me explain what happened.  I had pictures of a

         16  situation, of a passenger, who got stuck on a

         17  wheelchair lift.  I am going to try again the copies

         18  got a little messed up, so I will get them back to

         19  the Committee a little later.

         20                 We had to call 911 to have the Fire

         21  Department come and escort this disabled person in a

         22  wheelchair off the lift of the bus.  And these are

         23  some of the issues that have done.

         24                 What happened was they got caught in

         25  a broken wheelchair lift, it was a Triboro Coach
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          2  bus.  They had to remain there for an hour until

          3  emergency workers were able to free him from the

          4  lift.

          5                 The pictures give a sense of why we

          6  are here today.  It shows a situation of disabled

          7  riders in Queens.  But in a broader sense, it

          8  represents a situation of tens of thousands of bus

          9  riders.  A three- sided game has unfolded among the

         10  private owners, the City, and the MTA, and our

         11  riders are caught in it.

         12                 The situation is somewhat different

         13  at Liberty Express and at New York Bus, which

         14  provides Bronx Express Bus Service, than it is at

         15  the three companies that also provide a large part

         16  of the local service in Queens.  But even on the

         17  express route riders are caught by uncertainty.  On

         18  top of this, the MTA wants to raise express fares by

         19  two dollars.  That hike will hit our Bronx and

         20  Queens express passengers the minute the MTA

         21  takeover goes through.

         22                 In Queens, the falling- out between

         23  the City and the private companies has left us

         24  without spare parts, and without enough working

         25  buses to keep an adequate level of service.  Buses
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          2  chronically show up late or not at all.  Buses break

          3  down on the road.  Passengers are stranded at stops.

          4    In 20 years, I never saw the likes of this.

          5                 This situation is dragged out because

          6  some of the parties have given priority to their own

          7  agendas.  The private owners want to walk out of

          8  this with the best deal they can get out of it.

          9  Some of them feel that it serves their interests to

         10  drag out negotiations with the City while the

         11  service worsens.

         12                 The MTA for its part, just last week

         13  acted to create a structure for taking over the

         14  private bus lines.  The agreement between the City

         15  and the MTA was made in April, almost six months

         16  ago.  Why is it taking until now for the MTA to act?

         17  In part because the MTA spent months trying to get

         18  the state legislation to create a regional bus

         19  authority.  The MTA wants to use reorganization as a

         20  smoke screen to cut back bus service throughout the

         21  region, and tried to use the crisis in Queens to

         22  fulfill this agenda.

         23                 The riders and their bus service have

         24  been held hostage for these private agendas and so

         25  have we.
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          2                 Our members are doing what they can

          3  to keep the buses moving.  But from one day to the

          4  next, we do not know what our situation will be.  A

          5  takeover on this scale requires worked out

          6  agreements about the pension and health funds.

          7  These agreements are not there.

          8                 The labor contracts at all five,

          9  Local 100, private properties, have expired.  These

         10  contracts need to be negotiated to bring them up to

         11  date.

         12                 At the three Queens companies, we

         13  have been two years without a contract.  During the

         14  past two years, the yearly rate of inflation for

         15  medical costs has been in the double digits, and

         16  this has been reflected in the benefits page for

         17  City employees.  But at the City's insistence, our

         18  fund has been paid at a lower rate of increase,

         19  which is about 1.43 percent in a recent year.  As a

         20  consequence, the Queens Health Benefit Fund is

         21  hemorrhaging in red ink.  As of June 1st, it is was

         22  four million dollars in arrears, and the amount is

         23  climbing daily.  If this process drags on long

         24  enough, we could find ourselves without coverage for

         25  our families and ourselves.
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          2                 A transition in the private lines

          3  also requires working out agreements on the various

          4  pension funds.  For the Queens Fund, a transfer of

          5  the routes to the MTA without a solution on pensions

          6  could trigger a termination of the Fund and a mass

          7  withdrawal of the money.  The effects would be

          8  devastating.  There would be no way to continue

          9  payments to retirees and active workers, who could

         10  lose credit for the years they already have in.  We

         11  hope that no one wants to see this happen.  But the

         12  only way to preclude it, is to work out an agreement

         13  on pensions.

         14                 No agreement can be concluded with

         15  the employers without a funding agreement from the

         16  City.  But the City has yet to meet with us on our

         17  contract.  The MTA, for its part, says it cannot

         18  talk to us until we are MTA employees.  We are

         19  caught in the same squeeze as our riders, with our

         20  pension and health benefits at stake.

         21                 The MTA and the City should move this

         22  process forward swiftly.  The future of the private

         23  lines should be resolved in a way that is fair to

         24  riders and fair to workers. Queens' riders should

         25  get the service equal of that in any other borough.
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          2  And bus workers in every borough should be able to

          3  go to bed at night, knowing that in the morning

          4  their pension and their families' health care will

          5  still be there.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 Just to add on the statement that the

          8  MTA people made that they were going to the

          9  companies to talk to the employees.  As a union, we

         10  feel that they do not have to go to the owners to

         11  talk to us.  Our doors are open to talk to the MTA,

         12  and they have not addressed our issues that were

         13  expressed in the statements now.  We would like them

         14  to come and talk to us, so we can sit down and

         15  resolve our issues, and get our funding, so we can

         16  get our benefits and pension.  And people can retire

         17  with a decent pension, and wages, as we deserve.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  As a representative

         20  of Local 100, what do you think about this new

         21  separate bus company?

         22                 MR. WINBERRY:  What I think about the

         23  new separate bus company, if it is done right, and

         24  they fund us, if it is going to improve the service

         25  to the public, and it will improve our funding, and
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          2  give us our pension, and take care of wages, and

          3  everybody can maintain their seniority and stay in

          4  the same places that they have worked in, and work

          5  with public that they have worked with for the past

          6  20 to 30 years, it could be a good issue.  But it

          7  has to be done right.  And they need to sit down and

          8  negotiate with us.  We cannot sit down and not see

          9  what is going with issues.  We are not getting the

         10  answers from the MTA or the City to let us know

         11  where the money is.  Because right now we are

         12  working for maybe $1.85 less an hour to our TA

         13  counterparts.

         14                 My issue is, whatever happened to

         15  that prevailing rate with City contracts that go out

         16  to other contractors, where they have to provide a

         17  certain rate for City workers, when they franchise

         18  out.  Why doesn't this attend to the bus drivers or

         19  mechanics in the Queens or the Bronx area?  These

         20  are issues, I think, that have to be addressed, and

         21  they should be addressed.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Question from

         23  Council Member Sears.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chair.  I am just confused about one thing.  They
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          2  had said that they could not, the MTA said that

          3  they, because of law, they could not take the

          4  employees and shift them over to the MTA without

          5  legislation. I am really confused, and I am, as to

          6  if this was something that was all the time, how,

          7  and if the union was aware of that, how did anyone

          8  expect to shift the employees over to the MTA?  I am

          9  really kind of confused about that.

         10                 MR. WINBERRY:  Well like we said in

         11  the past, if the MTA and the City would sit down and

         12  talk with the union to tell us how they had this

         13  planned, and then we could rebut and say how we want

         14  it planned.  There has been no contact with the

         15  union whatsoever, on any negotiation that pertains

         16  to the operators and the mechanics to see how they

         17  could do it.  We do not know, because they are not

         18  telling us whatever plan they have.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay, but it

         20  was said that legally the bus company had to be

         21  established so that they could continue with these

         22  negotiations.  And they could not shift employees

         23  without legislation, over to the MTA.

         24                 MR. WINBERRY:  Right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  That meant in
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          2  establishing this bus company that they would be

          3  able to really negotiate with employees, and

          4  whatever, in order to make things happen.  Am I

          5  correct at that point, then with the bus company,

          6  they would be able to work with the employees?

          7                 MR. WINBERRY:  I am going to let our

          8  attorney, Susan Jennick, respond on the legal issue.

          9                 MS. JENNICK:  Hello, my name is Susan

         10  Jennick, I am Counsel to Local 100.  This is the

         11  first time I have heard the MTA say this.  What I

         12  heard the representatives from the MTA say, is that

         13  the employees could not be shifted to the New York

         14  City Transit Authority.  What they did say is MTA

         15  employees are not civil service.  I do not think

         16  that answered the question.  I do not think their

         17  response answered the question, because I do not

         18  know why a bus company was necessary for the MTA to

         19  create.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  They stated that in

         21  order for the MTA to takeover those lines and take

         22  on the bus drivers, the mechanics, and everybody

         23  else who in their own words were "union employees of

         24  the private companies"  that they would have to

         25  create this separate bus company.  Would you agree
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          2  with that, or would you have a different opinion?

          3                 MS. JENNICK:  The civil service

          4  entity is the New York City Transit Authority; the

          5  MTA is not a civil service entity.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.

          7                 MS. JENNICK:  So I do not agree that

          8  the bus company was necessary in order to deal with

          9  the civil service issue that they were addressing.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Let me clarify my

         11  question then, I probably asked a muddy question.

         12  Is it possible for New York City Transit to take on

         13  the employees of the private companies without the

         14  MTA having to create another bus company?

         15                 MS. JENNICK:  New York City Transit,

         16  itself, could not, without some change in the civil

         17  service law, accept the private employer companies.

         18  I agree with that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, yes and that

         20  is what they testified.  We had also asked another

         21  question.  In the future, could New York City

         22  Transit employees be transferred to the new company

         23  that presumably will have more flexible work rules?

         24                 MS. JENNICK:  Their response to that

         25  was no.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  That is correct.

          3                 MS. JENNICK:  Initially I would agree

          4  with that. If I research it and change my position,

          5  I will let you know.

          6                 MR. WINBERRY:  I think what we would

          7  run into is civil service status under TA and under

          8  MTA, because I do not believe we would be covered

          9  under civil service status.  That is our impression,

         10  but like I said, these are still questions that are

         11  unanswered by the MTA that we need to find out.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Is there a

         13  potential for new employees to be steered towards

         14  the bus company, rather than to allow them to come

         15  into New York City Transit?

         16                 MS. JENNICK:  Yes there is.  I mean

         17  the MTA has told the unions they are interested in

         18  reducing the number of civil service employees.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Does Local 100

         20  share that position?

         21                 MR. WINBERRY:  What reducing civil

         22  service, no we do not share reducing any of our

         23  workforce, not at all.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So would it be your

         25  opinion that the real reason that they are creating
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          2  this separate bus company is really to pave the way

          3  for the Regional Bus Authority, which ultimately has

          4  one of its goals to reduce the number of civil

          5  service employees?

          6                 MR. WINBERRY:  Well we do not know

          7  what their plan is.  We would hope that they were

          8  doing this in good faith for the riding public and

          9  for the workers.  That is what we are hoping they

         10  are doing, not to have some personal agenda which we

         11  can feel, like we have made in our statement.  We

         12  feel that they might have a personal agenda.  And we

         13  are hoping that is not the case.  Time will tell.

         14  The doors are open to the union hall to come and

         15  talk to us  We are waiting for them to negotiate.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  If could just

         19  follow one thing.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Please.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  In President

         22  Carrion's statement, he stated that the MTA said

         23  that they will keep the 2,600 union employees

         24  working under existing collective bargaining

         25  agreements.  Just who are those employees?  Does
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          2  that exclude those that working for the private bus

          3  companies?  Do you have any idea about that?

          4                 MR. WINBERRY:  As far as we

          5  understand that was with the private bus companies.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Well the MTA

          7  has said that it will keep the 2,600 union employees

          8  working under existing collective bargaining

          9  agreements.  Which, to me, that would mean that it

         10  is those that are union members already.

         11                 MR. WINBERRY:  Well that is our

         12  impression.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  And of the

         14  private companies.

         15                 MR. WINBERRY:  Yes that is our

         16  impression; they were going to keep all union

         17  workers.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  All right.

         19  Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you for your

         21  testimony today.  Next we will joined by

         22  representatives of Amalgamated Transit Union,

         23  Anthony Cordiello from Local 1181, and John Longo

         24  the President of the Local 1179.  Mr. Longo would

         25  you proceed first.
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          2                 MR. LONGO:  Good morning, Chairman

          3  Liu.  Thank you for letting me testify this morning.

          4                 On Wednesday, September 29th, the MTA

          5  Board voted to create another MTA subsidiary, the

          6  MTA Bus Company.  Beginning on December 4th, this

          7  new organization will oversee and manage the seven

          8  private bus companies that currently serve more than

          9  400,000 daily commuters in Brooklyn, Queens, and the

         10  Bronx.

         11                 MTA Chairman Peter Kalikow was quoted

         12  as saying, "The MTA would assume no additional

         13  financial burden by taking over the seven private

         14  companies, because the City has agreed to give them

         15  any additional funding necessary to operate these

         16  lines."  When Chairman Kalikow was asked, how much

         17  additional funding would be required, now and in the

         18  future, he said, "Whatever it is, the City will be

         19  responsible for it."  In other words, the City

         20  Administration has given the MTA a blank check, and

         21  all the MTA has to do is fill in the numbers, and

         22  whatever those numbers are, the City will be

         23  required to fund.

         24                 Right now, the owners of the private

         25  bus companies receive $150 million in annual
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          2  operating subsidies from the City of New York.  It

          3  is my understanding that the most recent budget

          4  submitted to the City Council calls for payments to

          5  the MTA of $161 million, which is approximately $11

          6  million more in operating subsidy than it presently

          7  costs to deliver the same service by the private

          8  companies.

          9                 Even though the MTA Board members

         10  voted unanimously to create this new MTA Bus

         11  Company, they still expressed reservations about the

         12  plan.  They are not as optimistic as Chairman

         13  Kalikow, about its feasibility.  They are concerned

         14  that future City Administrations could renege on

         15  these yet to be determined operating costs as they

         16  begin to escalate and become even more of a burden

         17  on the City budget.  MTA Board member, Barry

         18  Feinstein, suggested, that if any future City

         19  Administration reneges on the payments, and I

         20  quoted, "We give them back their buses and let them

         21  run it themselves."

         22                 The question then becomes, why has

         23  the City of New York agreed to this takeover plan

         24  without any service level, subsidy level, or fare

         25  rate guarantees from the MTA?  Under this plan,
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          2  future City Administrations will be held hostage to

          3  these payments, and if they object to the cost, it

          4  could mean an automatic reduction in service in the

          5  areas currently served by the private lines, or fare

          6  increases by the MTA to new unaffordable levels, or

          7  in a worse case scenario the return of this service

          8  to the City of New York, who will no longer be

          9  equipped to handle it.  This would have an adverse

         10  effect on the transit system, the 400,000 daily

         11  commuters who use that system, as well as thousands

         12  of transit workers.

         13                 Chairman Kalikow, also said, that the

         14  eventual goal of the agency is to operate a regional

         15  bus service that stretches from Montauk to

         16  Poughkeepsie.  If this MTA goal becomes a reality, I

         17  think we can all guess which city will be required

         18  to pay the lion's share of the subsidy, and I

         19  guarantee you it won't be Montauk or Poughkeepsie.

         20                 The current franchise bus system has

         21  checks and balances built into it, which empowers

         22  the City Council to act, and ensure that there is

         23  adequate bus service in the communities that they

         24  serve.  The City Council should insist that any

         25  change in the current City bus system continues to
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          2  provide for that level of City Council involvement,

          3  to protect the City and the public against abuse,

          4  now and in the future.

          5                 It would be unwise to entrust this

          6  bus service to the MTA without first coupling it

          7  with MTA reform and real transparency.  Remember

          8  this is the same MTA that closed token booths after

          9  promising no service cuts, the same MTA that kept

         10  two sets of books, and the same MTA that tried and

         11  failed to pass regional bus legislation this past

         12  June, in Albany.  If regional bus legislation is

         13  passed in its present form, it will allow the MTA to

         14  make service cuts of up to 25 percent on existing

         15  bus routes in New York City without any oversight.

         16                 I urge the City Council members to

         17  use their legislative powers, to prevent the MTA

         18  from using the newly created "MTA Bus Company" as a

         19  tool to cut the already overburdened and under-

         20  funded bus service in New York City. While at the

         21  same time, charging the riding public and the

         22  taxpayers more for that service.  Further, I am

         23  asking the City Council to do all they can to

         24  protect the transit workers' jobs and benefits that

         25  we have struggled to accrue through many years of
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          2  bargaining in good faith.

          3                 The people of New York City possess

          4  two great qualities, a sense of humor and a sense of

          5  proportion, but we are also a practical people.  We

          6  sense when things have gone too far, when the time

          7  has come to return to the basic fundamentals that

          8  has made this City great.  The people who live and

          9  work in this Great City have faced seemingly

         10  insurmountable problems in the past, we have

         11  overcome them through cooperation and hard work, and

         12  we will overcome them again.  We will only fail, if

         13  we allow ourselves to be boxed in by the limitations

         14  and errors of the past.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Mr.

         17  Cordiello.

         18                 MR. CORDIELLO:  Good morning, Mr.

         19  Chairman, and ladies and gentlemen of the Committee.

         20    I want to thank you for having these hearings, for

         21  giving me the opportunity to speak before this

         22  Committee, and allow me to be able to express our

         23  concerns over the announced plans of the MTA and the

         24  City of New York.

         25                 My name is Anthony Cordiello, I am
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          2  the Executive Board member of Local 1181- 1061 of

          3  the Amalgamated Transit Union. I appear before this

          4  Committee on behalf of Salvatore Battaglia,

          5  President and Business Agent of Local 1181.

          6                 My union represents the bus drivers

          7  and mechanics of Command Bus Company, which is one

          8  of the seven private bus lines that provides

          9  commuter service each day to the working public.

         10                 My statement is brief and to the

         11  point.  The reason my statement is brief is because

         12  nothing has happened since July 1, 2004.  The MTA

         13  and the City remain silent on whatever plans they

         14  have, if any.  The riding public still does not know

         15  if these plans will cut service, the workers of

         16  these bus companies will continue working without a

         17  contract, without wage increases for two years,

         18  while gasoline prices and the price of milk and food

         19  increase.  As of very recently medical benefits may

         20  also be effected.

         21                 To the point, the unions, the riding

         22  public, and the employees of these bus companies

         23  should all be part of this process, and not be left

         24  in the dark.

         25                 This is not a new concept.  In fact,
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          2  we have repeated this plea many times before.  And

          3  we appear here in hope that this Committee can

          4  ultimately make it happen.

          5                 Thank you for allowing me to testify

          6  this morning.            Respectfully submitted,

          7                 Anthony Cordiello, on behalf of

          8  Salvatore Battaglia.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Mr.

         10  Cordiello.  We have questions from Council Member

         11  Addabbo.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you,

         13  Mr. Chair, and I want to thank the panel here for

         14  their time and testimony here today.  And I just

         15  want to ask them, are you as surprised as I am

         16  regarding the lack of information and details

         17  regarding our workers, their fate, and the improved

         18  service we are suppose to be getting?

         19                 MR. LONGO:  Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I mean we

         21  heard today that the workers have not been spoken to

         22  because the owners did not want them to.  And is it

         23  in your opinion that technically they could have

         24  went to the unions themselves to talk to the workers

         25  about their interests or their concerns?
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          2                 MR. LONGO:  Yes, both the City, or

          3  the MTA ,could have talked to us.  Back in June when

          4  they were trying to pass that legislation up in

          5  Albany, the Assembly asked that same question.  And

          6  all of a sudden, a series of meetings was set up to

          7  meet with the unions, back in the end of May and the

          8  beginning of June.  As soon as the legislation

          9  failed to pass, no meetings have been set up.

         10                 We were told by TWU Local 100,

         11  previously said their medical benefit plan, and

         12  their welfare plan is financial trouble, well ours

         13  is also.  When we called the Office of Labor

         14  Relations, we were told to set up and sign an MOA,

         15  or a Memorandum of Agreement with the owners, and

         16  then they would speak with us.  We did that.  As of

         17  yet we have no meeting set up with the Office of

         18  Labor Relations.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  And again,

         20  the date of your last conversation with regards to

         21  this matter, was when?

         22                 MR. LONGO:  With Jim Hanley, our

         23  attorney spoke with Jim Hanley back in August.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  With only

         25  two months to go, such a critical service, the
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          2  workers who are an important part of the service

          3  that we are suppose to be improving.  Do you think

          4  that somebody has dropped the ball here?

          5                 MR. LONGO:  Yes, the whole thing has

          6  been mishandled and is filled with errors.  I mean,

          7  we could have done this, if they want this takeover,

          8  all they have to do is to sit down with the owners,

          9  sit down with the unions, the MTA and the City, we

         10  all sit down together, and we all can negotiate this

         11  transfer.  They have decided to do it behind closed

         12  doors.  And to run up to Albany to pass legislation.

         13    When that failed, now they are going to try plan

         14  B, which is an MTA Bus Company, and then go up and

         15  pass legislation up in Albany.

         16                 At that time, when that happens, the

         17  City of New York can be held hostage to this because

         18  these subside levels are going to increase and they

         19  are going to increase dramatically. What they want

         20  to do is just move equipment around.  Instead of

         21  going out and buying buses for Poughkeepsie, or

         22  Montauk, or Long Island Bus, they are going to take

         23  them from the City of New York, and they are going

         24  to pass them out there.

         25                 You are going to get a reduction of
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          2  service in this City.  And they are going to pass

          3  that service to the outer boroughs, to Westchester

          4  and to Long Island.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Equipment

          6  being what it is.  Equipment is one thing, but if

          7  you do not have the qualified workers to operate

          8  this equipment and maintain it then what kind of

          9  service are we going to improve?  There will be no

         10  improved service.  I think that all workers, those

         11  issues should have been taken care of, or should be

         12  taken care as a high priority, if we are looking to

         13  improve service.   Not put it on the back burner

         14  until it gets closer to December and than figure out

         15  from there how to go forward.

         16                 MR. LONGO:  Well as you know, last

         17  March the City was exposed for holding onto more

         18  than $150 million in federal transit funds.  There

         19  was some earmark to buy 730 buses for these seven

         20  private companies, and they have failed to buy those

         21  buses. They have sat on that money for two years.

         22  And right now, the deteriorating service that we

         23  have out there is getting worse by the day.

         24                 In the last independent, Department

         25  of Transportation Audit, or Report of Ridership
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          2  demand, Green Bus Line alone is suppose to have 317

          3  buses in their fleet, and they are suppose to put

          4  out 264 buses at peak service.  We are on paper, we

          5  are putting out 201, we are really putting out 185,

          6  maybe 160, and the ridership is continually

          7  increasing and the people are walking away from the

          8  service because they cannot get on the buses.  This

          9  is terrible.  Whether the bus is TA operated or

         10  franchise operated, these people deserve a seat on

         11  that bus.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you

         13  very much. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

         15  Member Addabbo.  Thank you very much for your time

         16  today.

         17                 MR. LONGO:  Thank you.

         18                 MR. CORDIELLO:  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  We do have one more

         20  witness on the issue of the proposed takeover, that

         21  would be Jerome Cooper the owner of Jamaica buses.

         22  After Mr. Cooper's testimony, we will move onto

         23  legislation concerning the pre- taxed, mass transit

         24  benefits.  Thank you for joining us, Mr. Cooper.

         25                 MR. COOPER:  Mr. Chairman, and
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          2  members of the Committee, thank you for having me,

          3  and inviting me to speak today.

          4                 I can't answer all of the questions

          5  that were raised by the MTA, but I can say this.  To

          6  begin with, one of the things that this Committee

          7  ought to know, is that the buses and the monies that

          8  have been held by the FTA, that is for the City's

          9  use, absolutely require private enterprise

         10  participation.

         11                 I was asked and invited to speak in

         12  Washington last week.  And I spoke at a time, and I

         13  spelled out the difficulties that the private

         14  operators have in the City of New York with respect

         15  to delivering transit.  Among the things that I told

         16  the Chairman there, was that, on average, 80 buses a

         17  day are out of service.  You equate that to 8,000

         18  people who must find a seat on another overcrowded

         19  bus.

         20                 I have not refused anybody to do

         21  anything, except I have refused to give certain

         22  sensitive records to the MTA and the City, because

         23  it is part of our intangible property rights.

         24                 What this Committee must also know is

         25  that there is some serious litigation pending in
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          2  Supreme Court, Queens County before the Honorable

          3  Dwayne Hart.  Among those things that we talk about,

          4  and one of the critical issues in litigation is the

          5  future of the non- union working force at our

          6  companies.  The City and the MTA, you have heard

          7  today, want $150 million that is earmarked for new

          8  buses, to go to the MTA.  If that occurs, these

          9  workers are covered by 13C of the Federal Transit

         10  Act.  They are also covered by the very agreement,

         11  which somebody said before this Committee did not

         12  exist, but there is a 1975 agreement which protects

         13  these workers, and all of them.  And by taking that

         14  federal money, they ensure that 13C must be honored.

         15                 One of the issues before the Supreme

         16  Court, is to ensure that the MTA honors that 1975

         17  agreement and agrees to be bound by all of the terms

         18  and conditions set forth in that agreement.

         19                 Now, I can tell you I appeared before

         20  this Committee a month or so ago.  There have been

         21  no negotiations with the City of New York over these

         22  various issues that we talk about.  As a matter of

         23  fact, at one of these meetings, a representative of

         24  the MTA that was there, regarding some of the issues

         25  and some of the problems facing our union, as well
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          2  as our non- union workforce.  I asked, or he asked

          3  of us, certain information that he wanted to be

          4  delivered to him.  And he said he would give me that

          5  list.  That was back in June and I have not seen the

          6  list yet.

          7                 I can tell you that there are no

          8  negotiations going on at present, or no meetings

          9  have been scheduled, except one, and that is with

         10  respect to the pensions.

         11                 At the same time that all of this is

         12  going on, all of this intricate hearings, and the

         13  litigation, and what goes on, buses are

         14  deteriorating.  We need equipment.  We can talk all

         15  day about who gets what, whether property is being

         16  protected, whether the stockholders of our companies

         17  are being protected, whether we are receiving

         18  adequate funds to operate.

         19                 But at the same time, in order to

         20  operate we need the equipment.  I said this to you

         21  before, you cannot run a bus company without buses.

         22  You cannot expect 20- year- old and 25 year- old

         23  buses to be on the street.  And the City held back

         24  $150 million, which could have gone into buses,

         25  which could have been transferred to the TA, if that
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          2  were in the plans.  But instead that money has been

          3  held back.  We do not have the equipment.

          4                 You, Council people, who represent

          5  your districts know darn well that you get constant

          6  complaints about over crowding.  You cannot put out

          7  an unsafe bus, we will not do it. It is one of the

          8  hallmarks of our companies for the past 100 years.

          9  I might say we were around long before the MTA, the

         10  TA, and the Board of Transportation of the City of

         11  New York, we know a little bit about the operation

         12  of buses.  We have always said that given a level

         13  playing field, we would probably operate as well, if

         14  not better than a public agency.  But we have not

         15  been given that playing field.

         16                 And all I can tell you is that if we

         17  continue to let this deterioration go on, it will

         18  collapse.  You are looking at a collapse of private

         19  bus service without that equipment.  If the City is

         20  looking for that kind of a crisis that is what we

         21  are facing right now.

         22                 You heard these union members speak

         23  about the deteriorating equipment that they must do.

         24    They are doing heroic work in getting these buses

         25  on the street, getting safe buses on the street.  It
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          2  cannot go on much longer, and we are going to face a

          3  crisis.

          4                 Now in addition to that, we have got

          5  to get these collective bargaining agreements behind

          6  us.  We have got to get the health plans, that are

          7  so necessary behind us.  And we have to deal with

          8  the issue of the non- union workforce.  They cannot

          9  be shunted aside just because they are not

         10  organized.  And we have been trying to help that

         11  non- union workforce as much as anybody.

         12                 So I can say to you now, unless these

         13  negotiations start to heat up very quickly, we will

         14  not meet the December 4th, this is not our deadline,

         15  we do not create deadlines.

         16                 As a matter of fact, this is City

         17  deadlines and MTA deadline.  I would like to see the

         18  Charter of that TA, that new company.  Does it

         19  provide for the Taylor Law to cover the workers?

         20  Does it mean the Taylor Law will cover the workers?

         21  Does it mean that they will cover these workers

         22  under the 13C protections that they are entitled to?

         23    What does it mean?  That is something that you

         24  should know about before one further step is made.

         25  It should not be left to drift the way it is
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          2  drifting.           We are entitled to a return on

          3  our invested dollar.  Traditionally, we have always

          4  operated more efficiently than any public agency.

          5  We think we can continue to do that, again as I

          6  said, given a level playing field.  Given those

          7  workers who have been with us for 30 or 40 years,

          8  why not?  What is the sudden rush to put us out of

          9  business?  If it is going to be done, it should have

         10  been done the way I suggested to the Mayor, two

         11  years ago.  I suggested to him that we sit down, we

         12  work this out, and then create the deadline.  Do not

         13  create the deadline, and then try to backfill all of

         14  this, it cannot be done.  There are pension plans.

         15  There are intangible property rights.  There are

         16  depots.  There are what we call tails.  There are

         17  any myriad of problems that we face, and we are not

         18  negotiating on them as of right now, or we have not

         19  in the last month at any rate.

         20                 So I stand before you, only as

         21  another citizen, who helps to provide bus service to

         22  the City.  And I say to you, if this is going to be

         23  done, somebody, somewhere, has number one got to get

         24  us the equipment.  That is key to this whole

         25  argument. Without that equipment, you can forget
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          2  about these hearings, there just won't be any bus

          3  service.

          4                 So I thank you very much for your

          5  time.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  The 13C

          7  issue that you spoke about it, just to be perfectly

          8  clear, you are referring to the 13C protections for

          9  the non- union workers.

         10                 MR. COOPER:  As well as the union

         11  workers.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Right, as well as

         13  the union workers, but it is your position that they

         14  are relevant for the non- union, as well.

         15                 MR. COOPER:  Absolutely, they are

         16  covered, and the City has recognized that by

         17  certification letters to the Department of Labor and

         18  to the FTA over and over again.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, understood.

         20  The negotiations that, your company is the largest

         21  of, combined, it would be the largest of the private

         22  companies?

         23                 MR. COOPER:  We operate over 700

         24  buses between four companies.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  How many routes?
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          2  Roughly, out of the 82 routes?

          3                 MR. COOPER:  Two- thirds of them.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Two- thirds of the

          5  routes.  How close, and if you do not feel

          6  comfortable in saying so, then you do not have to

          7  answer it.

          8                 MR. COOPER:  I do not feel

          9  comfortable sitting here, but I want to answer all

         10  the questions that you have.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  We appreciate that.

         12    How close do you think you are to coming to an

         13  agreement with the City?

         14                 MR. COOPER:  Given on a scale of one

         15  to ten, maybe one, right now.  We have nothing

         16  issued.  There is not one- -

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  We have less than

         18  two months to go to this deadline, that we

         19  understand is not your deadline, but it is the City

         20  and the MTA's deadline.

         21                 MR. COOPER:  You know, Mr. Chairman,

         22  one of the things I keep reiterating time and again

         23  to anybody that will hear me, when there is a

         24  takeover of a company, whether it is by a public

         25  agency or whether it is two private companies, the
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          2  first thing you do to calm the fears of all the

          3  employees and management, nothing changes, everybody

          4  remains in place.  We are not going to upset

          5  anything, at least, for the foreseeable future.

          6  Then you can walk in and start to examine what goes

          7  on But what happened here, is you read a statement,

          8  or an agreement between the MTA and the City, where

          9  it said we will honor the current union--

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  The current union

         11  employees.

         12                 MR. COOPER: - - collective

         13  bargaining.  Now that immediately put the people,

         14  the non- union people, into fear.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  We understand that

         16  you have been a strong advocate for the non- union

         17  employees as well, and we applaud you for that.

         18                 MR. COOPER:  But I want to point out

         19  something to this board.  If the non- union people

         20  were to walk out tomorrow because they were not

         21  guaranteed jobs, it would be as bad as not having

         22  any buses to put on the road.  Those buses could not

         23  run for many reasons.  Mainly, there would be nobody

         24  to do the payroll.  But that is what you are facing

         25  right now.
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          2                 And another thing, I have not told

          3  anybody that they cannot talk to the unions.  What I

          4  said is that they cannot interfere with or

          5  collective bargaining arrangements with the union.

          6  That is a completely different thing, and I resented

          7  that kind of a statement from the MTA.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, from your point

          9  of view you have not denied any access to your

         10  workforce.

         11                 MR. COOPER:  I have said that they

         12  cannot do anything that would interfere with our

         13  collective bargaining arrangement.  If they are

         14  going to talk to the union about our collective

         15  bargaining agreement and their collective bargaining

         16  agreement, I want to know what is being said.

         17                 I would tell you that at our

         18  properties we have, I speak with the TA.  They come

         19  in and sit down in my office, and we speak to

         20  representatives of the TA, every day.  They measure

         21  my office, they measure everything.  They come in

         22  and look at our processes.  We won't give them

         23  certain records.  That is our intangible property

         24  rights.  But we are not negotiating with the City on

         25  any of these things.  And it is a very difficult,
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          2  tenuous job that I have to try to make sure, without

          3  not cooperating.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Mr. Cooper, I

          5  believe that you are somewhat familiar with what

          6  happens in a takeover, be it of company, or by a

          7  public agency of private companies.  My

          8  understanding is that there are certain costs

          9  associated with such a takeover, be it by a private

         10  entity or a public entity. Mr. Page, last month

         11  testified that the takeover costs or the costs

         12  associated with this takeover by the MTA, would not

         13  nearly be as much as a billion dollars, could not

         14  possibly be a billion dollars.  And seem to intimate

         15  that it would actually be less than $100 million.

         16  Do you have any feeling?  Again if you do not want

         17  to- -

         18                 MR. COOPER:  You got the answer this

         19  morning from the TA.  They said they had to take

         20  $322 million out of another program to put into this

         21  program for Capital costs alone.  That is the

         22  beginning.

         23                 Now the pension problems, the

         24  equipment problems, the depot problems, you add all

         25  of this up you have a billion here, a billion there,
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          2  pretty soon it adds up to some money.  But I say it

          3  is closer to at least a half a billion.  Well the

          4  $322 million, you start from there.  The TW pension

          5  plan is a couple of hundred million dollars.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  The $322.5 billion

          7   - -

          8                 MR. COOPER:  Million.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: -- that the MTA is

         10  contributing is not meant in anyway, and they have

         11  said so very clearly, to take care of current City

         12  obligations.  In fact, the $322 million is meant to,

         13  in their own words, just as we heard this morning,

         14  acquire new buses.  And I allowed them, in my words,

         15  to include the acquisition of certain properties, as

         16  well.  But it does not in anyway, the $322 million

         17  is not in anyway meant to take care of the City's

         18  obligations in the transition, or takeover.  And

         19  they have made that very clear.  The MTA has made

         20  that very clear, we are not going to assume any

         21  obligations on the part of the City.

         22                 However, I believe it is your

         23  position, and it is our understanding that the City

         24  does have obligations to meet in this kind of

         25  takeover.
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          2                 MR. COOPER:  If the MTA says that

          3  they do not want to be responsible for any of the

          4  costs, and you questioned the City very closely last

          5  time, they said themselves, tens of millions.  It

          6  depends whether they are going to lease our

          7  properties or buy our properties.  We have said that

          8  the properties are not for sale.  We would be

          9  willing to lease them at current market value.  That

         10  reduces the immediate cost, but it is an operational

         11  cost.

         12                 I do not want to get into the

         13  negotiations on that because I have agreed with the

         14  budget director that I would not get into the

         15  negotiations, whenever they may take place.  But I

         16  would say to you that you are looking at a couple of

         17  hundred million dollars right off the bat.  I

         18  understand that you do not want to talk about what

         19  the MTA's obligation is.  When I said it will cost a

         20  billion, I put it all together.  It is taxpayer

         21  money, whether it comes from the State, it comes

         22  from the City, or it comes from the Federal

         23  Government, you are looking at a very heavy cost.  I

         24  cannot break it down for you.  But it is extremely

         25  heavy.
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          2                 And I would suggest to you, if they

          3  are going to try to meet a December 4th deadline, of

          4  their making, not ours, I say it over and over

          5  again, whatever they have to do and meet our

          6  deadline.  And to use the terms of Justice Hart in

          7  Supreme Queens, they have got to satisfy the

          8  operators here.

          9                 Now we want to put out service.  That

         10  is our function.  That is our dedicated duty.  We

         11  have been doing it for a 100 years.  We have the

         12  cooperation of the unions.  We have the cooperation

         13  of the non- union workforce.  Strangely enough, one

         14  or two may leave, but that is a dedicated non- union

         15  workforce. We have not seen a rush to the doors yet.

         16    And I can tell you that I am really very proud of

         17  it, because they come to work everyday knowing they

         18  have to support families after December 4th as well.But

         19  I would say that that is unrealistic, December 4th.

         20  I would say any short- term limitation on our

         21  ability to operate would be short- sided.  I think

         22  that the Council ought to consider all of that.

         23  They ought to consider what should be the deadline,

         24  or any deadline.  And I do not think a deadline

         25  should be done; this has to be done in an orderly
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          2  fashion.  You cannot give deadlines to it.  But if

          3  they have to, sometime in the future with directions

          4  to the City to meet, discuss, and do this, and the

          5  MTA, as well.

          6                 That is the best I can tell you here.

          7    And I think I am speaking for the other operators

          8  when I say that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Mr.

         10  Cooper.  Question from Council Member Sears.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you.

         12  Just a very, very brief question.  Thank you very

         13  much, Mr. Cooper.

         14                 MR. COOPER:  The brief question may

         15  be brief; the answer may be a little long.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  In light of

         17  everything that you have said, and I think that

         18  certainly you pointed out extremely well what the

         19  problems are.  In light of that, this bus company,

         20  as I understand it, the proposed bus companies

         21  formed, because they did not have legislation and it

         22  was to basically work at functioning with the

         23  private bus companies.  Don't you think that it is a

         24  little strange that they would have as their

         25  ultimate goal a regional service that goes way out
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          2  to the Island, that goes south and north, when in

          3  the midst of all of this the whole objective was

          4  that they would supposedly takeover these bus

          5  companies for the service of the City of New York?

          6  I find that mind- boggling, I really do.

          7                 MR. COOPER:  The difficulty that I

          8  find with it, is that unless we get equipment, we

          9  can't even put out service for our services.

         10                 May I suggest to the Council, having

         11  practiced law sometime, is this a private company,

         12  is this a stock company, is this a public company?

         13  If it is a private company, does that mean that the

         14  workers do not change their status when they go to

         15  work for the TA?  Does that mean that the Taylor Law

         16  does not cover them?  Does that mean that 13C

         17  applies, because they are taking federal money?  I

         18  mean these are question, I think, that the Council

         19  has to ask.  I cannot ask them, but I would like to

         20  see the Charter of this, which had to be filed some

         21  place in Albany.  I have not seen it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  I do not think

         23  we would be remiss in doing that.  Certainly when it

         24  was suggested that the Long Island Railroad would

         25  sit on the Board, I think that leaves a lot, as well
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          2  as the MTA Transit Authority, so I think your

          3  questions are a very valid ones.

          4                 But thank you very much.

          5                 MR. COOPER:  Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Council

          7  Member Sears, and then a brief question from Council

          8  Member Reyna.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Mr. Cooper, I

         10  am trying to understand this December 4th deadline.

         11                 MR. COOPER:  So am I.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Unfortunately,

         13  these days, deadlines mean very little, and from the

         14  looks of it this deadline, perhaps be sought for an

         15  extension.  What then?

         16                 MR. COOPER:  Are you asking me what

         17  happens?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I am asking

         19  you what would be your opinion, if this December 4th

         20  deadline turns into another extension?

         21                 MR. COOPER:  Well, again I, this is,

         22  I am thankful that I am not a Councilman.  I am

         23  thankful that I do not have constituents.  I feel

         24  badly for people who have to stand for hours in the

         25  rain, and in the snow, and in the inclement weather,
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          2  and in long lines, and have to get to work, and a

          3  bus does not come, or if one comes it breaks down.

          4  I am sorry for that.

          5                 This Council has to find a way to get

          6  us equipment, if the December 4th deadline comes and

          7  goes without any activity on the part of either the

          8  MTA or the City of New York.  They must get us, it

          9  is critical, when you have 80 buses a day put

         10  against the wall, that is 8,000 people, if you

         11  equate it out on a local service, you are really

         12  facing a very, very difficult time.  And we won't

         13  let an unsafe bus leave our depot.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And Mr.

         15  Cooper, as far as equipment is concerned, when you

         16  say equipment, you are not talking about a brand new

         17  bus that requires manufacturing two to three years.

         18                 MR. COOPER:  No.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Which is what

         20  is in order right now, we have been told.

         21                 MR. COOPER:  Right, but there must be

         22  equipment around.  I know there is, but this is a

         23  guess, so I won't venture to guess.  We want

         24  equipment that is, listen we put 20- year- old

         25  equipment out on the road, and make sure that it
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          2  passes DOT inspection.  And we do this on a daily

          3  basis, besides our own inspections.  We can take all

          4  the buses, we can "jerry" build them and keep them

          5  operating.  We can cannibalize parts, which we are

          6  doing now, in some cases.  And we can get those

          7  buses if we can get them, but we need them from

          8  somewhere.  These mechanics are magicians, I hate to

          9  tell you that with a collective bargaining agreement

         10  pending, but they are magicians.  At all four of our

         11  transit properties, and I dare say, all the others.

         12  They put out this equipment every day, and they have

         13  to work darn hard to do it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And I hope

         15  they get compensated for their magic.

         16                 MR. COOPER:  We think we do, and I do

         17  not think that they are terribly unhappy.  But I can

         18  tell you right now that they do a marvelous job, and

         19  so do those drivers, who have to face irate

         20  passengers every day.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  At the end of

         22  the day, Mr. Cooper, I am trying to ask myself, who

         23  do I hold accountable as a City Council member?  Who

         24  is going to get this equipment at the table so that

         25  our New Yorkers are able to obtain service?
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          2                 MR. COOPER:  I am sure, I see very

          3  often, I do not know how they work it out, that the

          4  Port Authority leases buses to the TA.  And I see

          5  every day that the TA has some buses, because they

          6  take out of service buses, which we have to keep in

          7  service.

          8                 In other words, some of their

          9  equipment that they have set aside may be some place

         10  around where we could get our hands on it under some

         11  arrangement.  But that has to be done between the

         12  City, the TA, the Federal Government, and who knows

         13  what.  Some place around this country there are some

         14  more buses that we can put on the road, somewhere in

         15  the Metropolitan area, there must be.

         16                 But I tell you, that if we go passed

         17  this December 4th deadline without help for the

         18  unions and their health benefits, without help for

         19  the bus companies to get equipment out, without help

         20  to your constituents, it is your constituents that

         21  we are thinking about here.  They are passengers to

         22  us, but we subsidize those riders.  The truth of the

         23  matter is, that when they talk about a subsidized

         24  operation, they are not talking about subsidizing a

         25  bus company.  It is a political decision that you
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          2  are going to subsidize the rider after a certain

          3  amount of money is paid.  And that is why these fare

          4  structures between TA and the franchise bus

          5  operations are different, in some cases.

          6                 So what I am saying to you, for your

          7  own people, you should be digging into this to get

          8  us this equipment.  If we are going out of business,

          9  fine, but let's do it with the dignity that both the

         10  operators, the unions, and the workers are entitled

         11  to.  We have been delivering service on behalf of

         12  these bus companies for a hundred years.  We are

         13  entitled to some dignity when we leave here.  And

         14  all we are asking for, is let us do it so that the

         15  riding public does not suffer.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And we have

         17  heard you loud and clear, Mr. Cooper.

         18                 MR. COOPER:  Thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I just wanted

         20  to share with my colleagues, as I had done with

         21  Council Member Addabbo, this December 4th deadline

         22  means nothing at the end of the day. Extensions can

         23  be passed, and we have seen them prior to this. And

         24  at the end of the day, no one is coming up with the

         25  answers and the solutions of equipment being needed,
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          2  and who is going to deliver it.

          3                 But I thank you, and I share your

          4  concern.  I look forward to seeing and having the

          5  hope that December 4th will bring some resolution to

          6  a lot of these problems.

          7                 MR. COOPER:  I hope so, as well, but

          8  if not, have a very Merry Christmas.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Mr.

         10  Cooper.  We will most likely see you again next

         11  month.

         12                 Our next panel consists of Joel Bondy

         13  and Ed Yowell from the City's Office of Payroll

         14  Administration.  We are now going to move onto

         15  discussion about Intro. 243.

         16                 Intro. 243 is a bill that would

         17  require any individual or business with 50 or more

         18  employees in New York City to offer such employees

         19  the opportunity to use their pre- tax earnings to

         20  purchase qualified transportation benefits.  We are

         21  basically talking about allowing people to purchase

         22  on a pre taxed basis the mass transit tickets,

         23  including MetroCards that certain employees within

         24  New York City already have access to.

         25                 Please take your discussions outside
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          2  so we can continue with the hearing.

          3                 This is the second hearing of this

          4  Committee on this particular issue.  And I want to

          5  thank you for joining us this afternoon for

          6  testimony.

          7                 MR. BONDY:  Good afternoon, Chairman

          8  Liu, and members of the Transportation Committee.  I

          9  am Joel Bondy, Executive Director of the New York

         10  City Office of Payroll Administration.  And I thank

         11  you for the opportunity to testify before you today

         12  on Intro. 243.

         13                 I applaud Chairman Liu, and this

         14  Committee's efforts in trying to expand upon the tax

         15  benefits the City offers to employees.  The

         16  Bloomberg administration supports, wholeheartedly,

         17  increasing the use the public transportation. And

         18  while this Committee's goals certainly are laudable,

         19  I would like to outline briefly a concern about this

         20  bill that the Administration has.

         21                 Intro. 243 would require all

         22  employers in the City with 50 or more employees to

         23  offer their employees the opportunity to use pre-

         24  tax earnings to purchase qualified transportation

         25  benefits, in accordance of Section 132 of the
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          2  Internal Revenue Code.  Section 132, of that code,

          3  provides for a direct relationship between actual

          4  cost of commuting via public transportation, and

          5  amounts of pre- taxed deductions, for that purpose.

          6  Intro. 243 provides for a minimum pre- tax deduction

          7  of $70 per month.

          8                 While I understand the Council's

          9  intent in providing a minimum pre- tax deduction

         10  equivalent, to the cost of a monthly MetroCard, that

         11  amount may be in excess of the value of some

         12  participating employees qualifying, public

         13  transportation costs.  In such cases, such

         14  deductions would not comply with the provisions of

         15  Internal Revenue Code 132.

         16                 I thank you for the opportunity to

         17  testify, and I am available to answer any questions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very

         19  much.  We certainly want to push forward with this

         20  legislation, and we would to some of your expertise

         21  to make this a bill that the Administration could

         22  support wholeheartedly.

         23                 This is important to us in the

         24  Council because, I think, we are aware of the

         25  historic fare increases that the MTA pushed through
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          2  last year, and are thinking of pushing through once

          3  again.  So we are trying whatever means possible to

          4  ease the pain and burden on New York City commuters.

          5

          6                 Your testimony is very clear, and at

          7  this point, I believe there are no questions.  Thank

          8  you very much for joining us today, and for your

          9  patience in allowing us to get through the other

         10  issue, as well.

         11                 MR. BONDY:  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Next,

         13  we will hear from Larry Filler from TransitCenter,

         14  Inc.  Mr. Filler?

         15                 MR. FILLER:  Yes.  Good afternoon,

         16  Chairman Liu, and members of the Committee.  My name

         17  is Larry Filler, and I am President and CEO of

         18  TransitCenter, Inc.  I want to thank you for

         19  inviting me to testify today about the Council's

         20  proposed legislation, Intro. No. 243, which would

         21  require companies in New York City with 50 or more

         22  employees to offer pre- tax commuter benefit

         23  programs to their employees.

         24                 TransitCenter is a New York State

         25  non- profit corporation whose mission is to
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          2  encourage the use the mass transit through providing

          3  pre- tax commuter benefit programs to businesses in

          4  the region.  TransitCenter supports the legislation

          5  as a way to increase the availability of this

          6  important benefit to all New Yorkers.

          7                 For those of you who may not be

          8  familiar with TransitCenter, our company is the

          9  leading provider of transit benefits in the Tri-

         10  State area.  And I am proud of TransitCenter's role

         11  in pioneering the concept of the pre- tax transit

         12  benefit.  In 1987, we introduced the TransitChek

         13  Program which, to this day, continues to provide

         14  transit tax benefit savings to over 10,000 public

         15  and private employers, and approximately 500,000

         16  employees in the Tri- State region.  In fact, we

         17  provide the employees of the City of New York with

         18  the premium TransitChek MetroCards.  As a result of

         19  over 15 years of work in promoting commuter benefits

         20  programs, we have seen the number of companies

         21  offering TransitChek to their employees increase

         22  dramatically.  But there is still much to do in the

         23  way of elevating the awareness and availability of

         24  these programs to businesses and the commuting

         25  workforce.
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          2                 I am not going to go over some of the

          3  substantial, financial, and environmental benefits

          4  that would accrue to this City from greater use of

          5  the benefit.  But I do want to share with some

          6  recent information that TransitCenter has developed,

          7  through our commission of an independent study,

          8  which was done to gain a better understanding of

          9  commuting population's awareness and use of commuter

         10  benefit programs.

         11                 We did our study recently, it was

         12  conducted between November of last year and January,

         13  for approximately 3,000 commuters in the Tri- State

         14  area, to find out more about their commuting habits

         15  and their understanding and use of pre- tax

         16  benefits.

         17                 And I am submitting as part of my

         18  testimony some of the more detailed highlights of

         19  that study.  But I want to point out some highlights

         20  before you today, which, I think, bear on the value

         21  of this legislation.

         22                 We found in the study that 28 percent

         23  of employees said their employer offered a commuter

         24  tax benefit program; 19 percent of the commuters

         25  were actually participating in these programs.  We
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          2  also found a substantial pent- up demand for

          3  participating.  Over 80 percent, in fact many cases,

          4  over 90 percent of commuters would be interested in

          5  participating in a commuter tax benefit program, if

          6  their company offered one.  We also found that two-

          7  thirds of company employees actually participate in

          8  these programs, when they are offered at work. One

          9  of the significant impacts of the TransitChek

         10  Program and of commuter benefits, in general, is

         11  that we found that 14 percent of the employees who

         12  are working at companies that offered these

         13  benefits, who did not use transit beforehand,

         14  because of the TransitChek Program, were now using

         15  transit.  We also found that employees generally who

         16  were using TransitChek and the commuter benefit

         17  programs were taking more trips on transit,

         18  particularly during weekends and evenings.  And

         19  finally, and I think most importantly, that

         20  commuters who are driving to work said that if they

         21  were offered a mass transit benefit, that they would

         22  be interested in switching to transit.

         23                 So we find that the study

         24  demonstrates that there is a pent- up demand for

         25  pre- tax commuter benefit programs, such as
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          2  TransitChek.  Part of that reason, of course, is

          3  that TransitChek helps commuters save money.  For

          4  example, an employee can save over $21 in taxes by

          5  purchasing a $70, 30- day Unlimited Ride MetroCard.

          6  This makes the effective cost of the 30- day

          7  MetroCard only $49, which is substantially less than

          8  even the $63 cost for that 30- day unlimited, which

          9  existed before the fares were raised in 2003.

         10                 In addition, the study indicates that

         11  the availability of transit benefit programs

         12  encourages employees to use mass transit, which

         13  contributes to less auto traffic and reduced air

         14  pollution.  And, when you factor in the financial

         15  benefit to companies in reduced payroll taxes, pre-

         16  tax commuter benefits provide a win/win situation

         17  for the business community, the City, and the

         18  workforce.

         19                 During these times of escalating

         20  health care costs, insurance premiums, and overall

         21  cost of living in the Tri State area, pre- tax

         22  commuter benefits provide an affordable and easy way

         23  for both companies and commuters to help their

         24  bottom lines.  In light of what we have learned

         25  through our market research about the demand for
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          2  these benefits and their potential to get more

          3  people on mass transit, which is the heart our

          4  public mission, we support the Council's

          5  legislation.

          6                 I would be happy to answer any

          7  question that you have at this time.  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Mr.

          9  Filler. Coincidentally, on the way in this morning,

         10  I heard on the radio your new commercial talking

         11  about the Premium TransitChek package, that includes

         12  not only the mass transit, but also commuter

         13  parking.  So congratulations on your continuing

         14  innovation.

         15                 MR. FILLER:  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  You have provided

         17  us with a great deal of important information as we

         18  push ahead with this legislation.  So I do want to

         19  thank you for joining us this morning.  I know that

         20  you have waited a long time to testify, and your

         21  time is valuable, so really we are appreciative of

         22  your time.

         23                 MR. FILLER:  Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  There being no

         25  further testimony, this hearing of the
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          2  Transportation Committee is adjourned.

          3                 (Hearing adjourned at 12:12 p.m.)

          4                 (The following testimony was read

          5  into the record.)

          6  Testimony of:

          7  Adolfo Carrion, Jr.

          8  President

          9  Bronx Borough

         10                 Good morning, Chairman Liu, and

         11  members of the City Council's Committee on

         12  Transportation.  I am Adolfo Carrion, Jr., President

         13  of the Borough of the Bronx.  Thank you for the

         14  opportunity to testify at this Oversight Hearing

         15  concerning the status of the announced transfer of

         16  New York City's subsidized private bus lines to the

         17  Metropolitan Transportation Authority (MTA).

         18                 The focus of my testimony this

         19  morning relates to the seven private bus companies

         20  that provide local and express service to the

         21  residents of all five boroughs.  In particular, I

         22  will speak to uncertainties in the proposed

         23  transfer:  Such as what will be the fate of hundreds

         24  of dedicated private bus company employees after the

         25  transfer, what role in this process will be given to
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          2  the owners of the private bus companies, and whether

          3  the MTA has the financial resources to complete the

          4  transfer.

          5                 New York City's seven subsidized

          6  private bus companies are currently operating under

          7  franchise agreements originally approved by the

          8  Board of Estimate.  Since the demise of the Board,

          9  the Franchise and Concession Review Committee has

         10  approved a number of extensions pursuant to

         11  Authorizing Resolutions adopted by the City Council.

         12    These extensions terminate on December 4.

         13  Combined, the seven operators provide local and

         14  express bus service to more than 114 million riders

         15  annually.  Of the seven, two provide express

         16  services only, New York Bus Tours and Liberty Lines

         17  Express, the remaining five, Command Bus Co., Green

         18  Bus Lines, Jamaica Buses, Queens Surface Corp., and

         19  Triboro Coach Corp. Operate basic or a combination

         20  of basic and express service.  Together, the seven

         21  private bus lines operate approximately 82 routes

         22  throughout the City and serve 400,000 riders in

         23  Queens, Brooklyn, and the Bronx daily.

         24                 More than a year ago, Mayor Michael

         25  Bloomberg announced a proposal for the City's
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          2  transfer of management for these private bus

          3  companies and the transfer of their omnibus

          4  operations to the MTA.  When this plan was announced

          5  I expressed my concern, not because of who will

          6  ultimately control this bus transportation service,

          7  but for the continuity of service, safety of the

          8  riders, the quality of service provided, and the

          9  preservation of the jobs and pensions of the bus

         10  drivers, maintenance workers, mechanics, office

         11  workers, and others. Today those concerns remain.

         12                 On April 19, 2004 Mayor Bloomberg,

         13  Governor George Pataki, and MTA Chairman Peter

         14  Kalikow announced that the operation of the seven

         15  private bus lines in Queens, the Bronx, and Brooklyn

         16   "will be transferred to the MTA by July 1, 2004".

         17  The transfer to the City would be accomplished

         18  through negotiated agreements with the private bus

         19  companies.  The City would, in turn, transfer the

         20  entire bus operation to the MTA.  The MTA then would

         21  transfer all of its omnibus operations to a newly

         22  created subsidiary corporation.

         23                 Since that time, the MTA has created

         24  a subsidiary, MTA Bus Co., which will operate the

         25  private lines.  However, negotiations between the
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          2  MTA and the City have been unsuccessful. Among the

          3  sticking points are who is responsible for the

          4  employee benefits and the costs of acquiring bus

          5  depots and other equipment.  The City and the MTA

          6  have missed several deadlines for taking over

          7  service from the private bus operators.  The City

          8  Council extended the transfer date by five months,

          9  with the operation of the seven private bus lines to

         10  be handed over to the MTA on December 4, 2004.

         11                 In evaluating the transfer process up

         12  to the present time, my concern is not who will

         13  ultimately control the bus routes serviced by the

         14  current franchisees; it is for the continuity of

         15  service, safety of the riders, the quality of

         16  service provided, and the preservation of the jobs

         17  and pensions of the bus drivers, maintenance

         18  workers, and others who currently work for the

         19  private operators.

         20                 What mechanism will be used to

         21  implement the transfer of management?  What

         22  provisions are being made for the job protection of

         23  the employees and their pensions?  Workers are,

         24  understandably, concerned about losing protections

         25  and the future of their pension plans.  Around 400
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          2  non- union employees, mostly clerks and

          3  administrative assistants, will lose their jobs when

          4  MTA takes over the bus companies.  One hundred and

          5  fifty non union workers have filed claims seeking

          6  job protection  MTA has said that it will keep the

          7  2,600 union employees working under existing

          8  collective bargaining agreements, until the deals

          9  are negotiated.  However, questions still remain;

         10  will the MTA implement route changes, route

         11  eliminations, service reductions, and other

         12  modifications that will affect bus riders and the

         13  bus companies' employees.

         14                 If a transfer of management is the

         15  ultimate decision, such an action cannot be made in

         16  a vacuum.  To date, the current franchisees have had

         17  a limited role in this process. That is wrong.  DOT

         18  and the MTA must have meaningful discussions with

         19  the private bus companies and the union

         20  representatives. Especially since all parties are

         21  fully aware of the enormity of the problems the MTA

         22  will have to overcome, in order to bring the service

         23  into line with standards that would be acceptable to

         24  the bus riding public.

         25                 Additionally, a discussion about a
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          2  transfer of management for the private bus lines

          3  cannot take place without consideration of the MTA

          4  finances, and its current budget crisis.           It

          5  has been reported that private bus lines have old

          6  beat- up buses that have sub par on- time

          7  performance.  Their condition is a result of the

          8  failure of City officials to adequately subsidize

          9  the maintenance and purchase of new buses. The City

         10  recently promised to purchase 450 new buses for the

         11  private bus routes.  Delivery, however, could take

         12  up to two years.  The MTA has also amended its

         13  capital plan to re- allocate $322 million for

         14  improvements.

         15                 Yet, the MTA's ability to deliver on

         16  its promises for these improvements is suspect.

         17  Over 22 years, the MTA's budget deficit has grown

         18  from $3 billion to more than $11 billion, while

         19  direct state aid has dropped from 19 percent to

         20  zero.  Next year, the MTA faces a $436 million

         21  budget deficit that is projected to balloon past $2

         22  billion in 2008.  The agency's deficit could grow to

         23  more than $3 billion by 2010, if the MTA were to

         24  borrow money to close the gap and fund half its

         25  expansion projects.
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          2                 The State did not provide any direct

          3  funding to the current capital plan, forcing the MTA

          4  to borrow heavily.  The City has cut its funding to

          5  the current program by $90 million. Despite billions

          6  in anticipated federal funding, the capital plan has

          7  a gaping $11.3 billion shortfall.

          8                 In summary, the plan to transfer

          9  management of the seven private lines to the MTA on

         10  December 5th is fraught with uncertainties, from

         11  whether the MTA has the financial resources to

         12  complete the transfer, to the question of which

         13  routes will survive MTA scrutiny, to what will be

         14  the fate of hundreds of dedicated private bus

         15  company employees.

         16                 I believe that if the transfer does

         17  not take place on December 4th, the owners of the

         18  private bus lines should be given a multi- year

         19  extension of their operating authority so that long-

         20  term stability can return to this very important

         21  part of New York City's mass transit system.  Long-

         22  term plans surrounding labor contracts and the

         23  acquisition of new equipment cannot be completed

         24  unless all parties know what the future holds.

         25  Significantly, the consequences of doing nothing
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          2  could result in a total collapse of the private bus

          3  system as the old equipment we now use continues to

          4  deteriorate and there are labor actions.

          5                 However, should the negotiation

          6  process be concluded and the transfer of management

          7  implemented as planned, we must be the watchdogs for

          8  our constituents and monitor the services provided

          9  by this new entity.  If the City and the MTA settle

         10  the particulars, the MTA can begin integrating the

         11  private bus lines' 82 routes with its own system of

         12  219 routes used by 2.5 million daily passengers.

         13                 At that point, we will prod the MTA

         14  to ensure that a reasonable vehicle replacement plan

         15  be developed and implemented without delay.  MTA

         16  must be held responsible for all aspects of the

         17  services delivered and the continued maintenance of

         18  the existing health and welfare plans.  It is

         19  imperative that pension plans and seniority be

         20  adhered to.

         21                 Most importantly, as the elected

         22  leaders of our great City, we must do all within our

         23  power to ensure the continuity of service for bus

         24  riding New Yorkers.

         25                 (Hearing concluded at 12:12 p.m.)
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